IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CALVIN JEROME JOHNSON, JR.,

Appellant,

ν.

•

CASE NO.: 88,986 LOWER CASE NO.: 95-915-CF-B

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERESA J. SOPP Attorney at Law 211 N. Liberty St., Ste. Two Jacksonville, Fl 32202-2800 Florida Bar No. 265934

(904) 350-6677

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR SEVERANCE OF HIS TRIAL FROM THAT OF THE CO-DEFENDANT

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE TESTIMONY RELATING TO CO-DEFENDANT'S POSSESSION OF A HAND-CUFF KEY

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN IMPOSING THREE-YEAR MANDATORY SENTENCES WHEN THERE WAS NO SPECIFIC JURY FINDING THAT APPELLANT HAD ACTUALLY PERSONALLY CARRIED A FIREARM IN VIOLATION OF 775.087, FLORIDA STATUTES

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS ASSIGNMENT OF WEIGHT TO THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF "PREVIOUSLY CONVICTED OF FELONY INVOLVING USE OR THREAT OF VIOLENCE"

ISSUE V

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS ENGAGED IN THE COMMISSION OF THE CRIME OF BURGLARY DURING THE COMMISSION OF THIS CRIME

ISSUE VI

THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY IS DISPROPORTIONATE IN THIS CASE WHEN COMPARED WITH OTHER CAPITAL CASES

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the record herein will be "R" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers as assigned by the Clerk. References to the transcripts of trial, penalty phase and sentencing will be "T" followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers as assigned by the court reporter. References to exhibits will be the party introducing the exhibit, followed by the Clerk's number for said exhibit.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment and sentence wherein the death penalty was imposed.

On January 11, 1995, Judge L. P. Haddock, Fourth Judicial Circuit Judge, issued a warrant for the arrest of appellant for the offense of "Murder;" no degree of homicide **was** specified therein. (R. Vol. 1-2). On January 12, 1995, Calvin Jerome Johnson, Jr. was booked into the Duval County Jail, again on the unspecified offense of "Murder." (R. Vol. 1-3).

On January 13, 1995, Johnson appeared at first appearance court, where he was determined insolvent, where he exercised his claim of rights pursuant to the Fifth and Sixth Amendments of the United States Constitution relating to silence and counsel, and where counsel was appointed to represent him. (R. Vol 1-5; R. Vol. 1-6; R. Vol. 1-7).

On January 17, 1995, the Office of the Public Defender filed a certificate of conflict and motion to withdraw, citing the fact that the Office of the Public Defender represented the co-defendant ANTHONY JOHNSON. (R. Vol. I-9).

On January 27, 1995, Assistant State Attorney Jay Taylor filed an information against appellant, alleging charges of second degree murder, attempted first degree murder, home invasion robbery, burglary, armed robbery and possession of firearm by convicted felon. (R. Vol. 1-13). On February 2, 1995, the State filed its notice of intent to classify defendant as a habitual felony

offender, and its notice of intent to classify defendant as a habitual violent felony offender. (R. Vol. 1-21; R. Vol. I-22).

On March 4, 1995, the Duval County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging appellant with first degree murder, attempted first degree murder, armed robbery, burglary, and armed robbery. (R. Vol. I-25)¹. On March 27, 1996, the State filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (R, Vol. I-30).

Trial counsel filed the following motions relating to the death penalty:

a. Motion to Declare Section 921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u>
 Unconstitutional as Applied because of Arbitrariness and jury
 Override in Sentencing;

b. Motion to Declare §921.141 and §922.10, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u> Unconstitutional because Electrocution is Cruel and Unusual Punishment;

c. Motion to Declare §782.04 and §921.141 Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional because of Treatment of Mitigating Circumstances;

d. Motion for Evidentiary Hearing, for Payment of Fees and Expenses of Expert Witnesses, Concerning Arbitrary Application of the Death Penalty;

e. Motion to Declare §921.141(5) (d) <u>Florida Statutes</u>, Unconstitutional;

¹ Counts three and five of the indictment invoked Section 775.087, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, but failed to allege what subsection of Section 775.087 <u>Florida Statutes</u> was being invoked; count two did not allege that this subsection applied.

f. Motion for Evidentiary Hearing and for Payment of Fees and Costs of Expert Witnesses on the Constitutionality of Death Qualifications;

g. Motion to Dismiss and Declare §782.04 and §921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional for a Variety of Reasons;

h. Motion for Evidentiary Hearing and for Payment of Fees and costs of Experts and Lay Witnesses on the Constitutionality of Death by Electrocution;

i. Motion to Declare that Death is not a Possible Penalty for Bid Inquiry of Jurors as to Death Qualification and Declaration that no Bifurcated Proceedings may be had;

j. Motion to Prohibit Instruction on Aggravating Factors 5(h) and 5(i);

k. Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5) (h), Florida
 Statutes Unconstitutional;

Motion to Declare §921.141, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1987),
 Unconstitutional; and

m. Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5) (i), <u>Florida</u>
<u>Statutes</u>, Unconstitutional.

(R. Vol. 1-74-179). These motions were denied. (T-Vol.XXIII-153 et seq.).

Johnson also requested that the court require the jury to consider and return **a** special verdict, indicating whether the jury determined first degree was based on a pre-meditation theory or on the felony murder theory. (R. Vol. I-111). That motion was denied. (T-Vol. XXIII-178). Johnson also filed a motion for

additional peremptory challenges, requesting that the trial court not limit the number of peremptory challenges in jury selection. (R. Vol. I-147). That motion was denied without prejudice to renew at trial. (T-Vol. XXIII-185).

Johnson also moved to select separate juries for the guilt and penalty phase, in order to preserve his presumption of innocence in the guilt phase. (R. Vol. I-163). That motion was denied on April 26, 1996. (T-Vol.XXIII).

Johnson also filed a motion to sever both offenses and defendants (R. Vol. 11-237); that motion was granted as to severance of offenses, but denied **as** to defendants. (T-Vol.XXIII). Johnson also filed a second motion to sever defendants for purposes of the penalty phase, alleging that it would not be possible for a jury to consider aggravating and mitigating circumstances as to each individual, especially where the co-defendants were brothers. (R.Vol.II-241; T-Vol.XXV). That motion was denied without prejudice to renew after trial. (R. Vol. 11-245).

Hearing on non-evidentiary motions was held on Friday, April 26, 1996, before the Honorable Hugh A. Carithers, Circuit Court Judge, (T-Vol. XXIII-23). At that time, Johnson adopted many motions of the co-defendant, including the co-defendant's motion requesting proper victim impact evidence, and the co-defendant's motion for statement of aggravating circumstances.

Hearing on the motion to sever defendants **was** held on May 27, 1996. (T-Vol.XXIV). The motion to sever defendants as to the guilt phase of the trial **was** denied; the trial court reserved ruling as

to the question of severance of penalty phase, (T-Vol. XXIV-257).

Jury selection for both appellant and the co-defendant began on June 10, 1996. (T-Vol.XXVI-299). One jury was selected to try both cases.

During the trial, Johnson made several motions to sever his trial from that of the co-defendant. Johnson's motion for judgment of acquittal as to Count III was granted in part; the trial court reduced that charge to a charge of attempted armed robbery. (T-Vol.XXXII-1597); (R. Vol. 11-308).

Verdict forms submitted to the jury in the guilt phase did not contain a "sub" or special finding as to whether Calvin Johnson personally carried a firearm for purposes of 775.087. (R. Vol. II-257).

Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree, of attempted murder in the first degree, of attempted robbery with a firearm, of burglary with an assault and of armed robbery. (R. Vol. II-256-60). Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial. (Id.

at 316).

Penalty phase was held on July 12, 1996. (T.Vol.XXXVII).

The trial judge entered a Sentencing Order addressing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R. Vol. 111-432). The trial judge determined that the state had proved the following two aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. The defendant was previously convicted of other felonies involving the use or threat of violence to some person; and

2. The defendant, in committing the crime for which he is to be sentenced, was engaged in the commission of the crime of burglary.

(R. Vol. 111-33). The trial court rejected the state's contention that separate aggravating factors of "in the commission of the crime of burglary" and "committed for pecuniary gain" existed. (Id. at 434).

The trial court had determined that the defendant had proven one statutory mitigating factor, age; but determined that this factor was entitled to "very little weight." (Id. at 435). The trial court addressed the non-mitigating statutory factors presented by the defendant. The trial court rejected or gave very little or slight weight to the remaining mitigating circumstances of defendant, and concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. (Id. at 435-39). The trial court imposed the death penalty as to count one (first degree murder of Willie Gaines); a life sentence as to count two (the attempted first degree murder of Calvin Gaines); a thirty-year sentence as to count three (attempted armed robbery); and a life sentence for both counts four and five. (Id. at 439-40; Id. at The trial court imposed three-year minimum sentences on 422). counts two, three, and five. (<u>Id</u>.)

Appellant timely filed his notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On December 30, 1994, Calvin Johnson was in a car being driven by Chiffon Bryant; Calvin and his brother, Anthony, were in the back seat. (T-Vol.XXIX-1080-82). Chiffon's boyfriend, Shirae Hickson, sat in the front passenger seat. (<u>Id</u>. at 1081). The men were helping Chiffon move; she had been evicted from her apartment. (<u>Id</u>. at 1079; T-Vol.XXX-1175).

Chiffon Bryant testified that as the group drove down 21st Street in Jacksonville, they saw Calvin Gaines ("Big Gaines") in his front yard, (<u>Id</u>. at 1082). Calvin Gaines was a crack cocaine dealer. (T.Vol .xxx-937). Bryant testified the men were laughing and joking and that she was thinking to herself, "Gosh, he is fat." (T-Vol.XXX-1089). Bryant testified there was no discussion between her passengers about what was to happen next; no one had planned any robbery or shooting. (T-Vol.XXX-1174). According to Bryant, Calvin Johnson tapped Anthony Johnson on the shoulder and said only, "There is Big Gaines right there." (T-Vol.XXX-1089). Anthony Johnson had leisurely mentioned that "Big Gaines" owed him money. (T-Vol.XXX-1090).

Anthony told Chiffon "Pull over, pull over. I can get my money now." (Id. at 1090), Anthony Johnson directed Chiffon to pull over. (Id.). Chiffon testified both Calvin and Anthony got out of the car; according to her, both were carrying guns. (Id. at 1092). Chiffon claimed that she could see Anthony's gun tucked into his belt with his shirt pulled over it, and that she could see Calvin's gun "up under his shirt in the back of his pants." (Id.).

Chiffon described Anthony's gun as an "automatic, semi-automatic;" and as "a larger gun." (<u>Id</u>.). According to Bryant, Calvin carried a .22. (<u>Id</u>. at 1093). Bryant testified she drove away and that when she returned, she **saw** "Big" Gaines lying on the ground. (<u>Id</u>. at 1093).

Bryant testified that she had been arrested after being interviewed by Detective Scott.² Bryant admitted that **she** had lied to Detective Scott on the occasion of her first interview with him, but that she had cooperated with him afterward. (T-XXX-1107-08). Bryant was initially charged in the same information as appellant with unrelated charges of burglary of a dwelling and robbery. (R-Vol.I-13-16). Bryant testified that she had pleaded guilty to two counts of armed robbery and one count of accessory to murder. (T-XXIX-1069). Bryant also testified that her exposure would have been life in prison for the offenses. (<u>Id</u>. at 1072-73). Bryant testified that she was hoping to receive a good recommendation from the state for her sentencing. (<u>Id</u>. at 1073).

Bryant testified that Shirae Hickson was her boyfriend, and that she had two children with him. (<u>Id</u>. at 1074). In fact, one of the children Ms. Bryant had with Shirae Hickson was born while she was **incarcerated on** these charges. (T-XXX-1111). Ms. Bryant testified that she would always love Shirae Hickson, and that she wrote him letters in jail. (<u>Id</u>. at 1114).

²In opening statement, Assistant State Attorney Jay Taylor told the jurors Chiffon Bryant was a co-defendant, and was charged with the "same crimes that these men are charged with." (T-Vol.XXVIII-788).

Bryant wrote letters to Shirae Hickson so he would know what her previous testimony had been. (<u>Id</u>. at 1133). In the first of her letters, she reiterated that Shirae Hickson, Anthony Johnson, and Calvin Johnson were in the car. (<u>Id</u>.). Bryant reiterated her entire version of the facts in a letter to Shirae Hickson. (<u>Id</u>. at 1133-38). Ms. Bryant's second letter instructed Shirae Hickson to stay "in contact with each other," and instructed him to "[f]lush this after you read and remember it. Flush it." (<u>Id</u>. at 1139). That letter again reiterated Bryant's version of the events of December 30, 1994, and pleaded with Shirae Hickson to "please try to remember all of this." (<u>Id</u>. at 1139-43).

In a third letter, Bryant requested Shirae to give her information in order to prepare herself for deposition. (<u>Id</u>. at 1144-46). In that letter, Bryant reiterated that it was only by chance that we ran into "Big" Gaines, (<u>Id</u>. at 1144). In the final letter Ms. Bryant wrote to Shirae Hickson while incarcerated, she explained her plea agreement with the state, and informed Hickson that she had not received a "cap." (<u>Id</u>. at 1147). In her letter, Chiffon Bryant stated:

> They claim it would make me look like a more credible and better witness if I could say that I could get a long time in prison instead of testifying truthfully or maybe they plan on giving me a long time, but I have faith in God that he is not going to let that happen, that he is going to send me home soon.

(<u>Id</u>. at 1147).

Ms. Bryant had remarked in her letter that she and Shirae were "two lovers together forever," and that they would "stick together until this is over." (Id. at 1151). Bryant admitted that one of the reasons it was important for the two of them to stick together was so that the jury did not think that one of them was lying. (Id. at 1151-52).

Linsey Walker was driving by the Gaines' home at the same time as Chiffon Bryant, Shirae Hixon, and the Bryants. (T-Vol.XXX-1190). Walker saw Calvin "Big" Gaines with his arms up in the air and a guy with a gun in his hand. (<u>Id</u>. at 1191). Walker drove about two houses down, made a U-turn and drove past the Gaines' home again, (<u>Id</u>.). As he turned his car around, Walker saw Anthony Johnson fire shots at Calvin Gaines. (<u>Id</u>. at 1191-92). On cross-examination, Walker admitted he had seen "Big" Gaines and Anthony "outside fighting." (<u>Id</u>. at 1201). Walker claimed he saw Calvin Johnson running out of the Gaines' home. (<u>Id</u>. at 1192). Walker testified the man running out of the house had been between five-foot-nine and five-foot-ten. (<u>Id</u>. at 1202).

Shae Brookins testified that on December 30, 1994, he was working at the Silver Moon Gas Company on east Twenty-first Street near the Gaines' home. (T-Vol.XXX-1205-06). Brookins had previously purchased crack cocaine from Calvin "Big" Gaines; according to Brookins, Gaines had been selling dope around the time

of the shooting.³ (<u>Id</u>. at 1214; <u>Id</u>. at 1216). Brookins testified that on the day of the shooting, he had walked by Gaines' front yard, and had seen Gaines "just talking" to Anthony Johnson, (<u>Id</u>. at 1218).

Brookins testified that he heard gunshots, then turned around to see "Big" Gaines' father come out of the house with a .25 and fall down. (Id. at 1218-19). Brookins testified that when the elder Mr. Gaines had come out, he **was** "shooting a .25 at them." (Id. at 1221). In a prior deposition, Brookins had stated that the other man with Anthony had "turned around and started pow, pow, pow, pow, pow," when Daddy Gaines "came out there and started shooting a .25 at them." (Id. at 1221). In Brookins' prior deposition, he had testified that he had seen Daddy Gaines come out of the house with **a** .25, "trying to protect his boy because he had done been shot."

Amanda Gaines testified that she lived at 1431 East 21st Street with her son Calvin Gaines, and her husband, Willie Gaines. On December 30, 1994, Mrs. Gaines was talking to a friend on the telephone, when she looked down the hall and saw "this guy" come in with her husband. (T. Vol. XXIX-972). Amanda Gaines testified that she saw the guy behind her husband, and a gun in [the guy's] hand. (Id. at 973). At trial Mrs. Gaines twice identified *co-defendant*

 $^{^{3}}$ The state described Calvin Gaines as a drug dealer in opening statement. (T-Vol.XXVIII-786).

Anthony Johnson as this "guy" or this man.⁴ (T-Vol. XXIX-984-89).

Mrs. Gaines testified that she went to the back of the house, and then came back to the front room. When she came down the hall her husband was sitting in his chair in the living room. (<u>Id</u>. at 973-74). Mrs. Gaines **said that the man with her husband (whom she** identified as co-defendant Anthony Johnson) **saw** her, and told her not to go into the back of the house. (Id at 975). Mrs. Gaines ran away screaming "Don't kill us, don't kill us. We don't have drugs. We don't have money." (<u>Id</u>. at 975).

Mrs. Gaines could not see what occurred after that, but heard a gun shot. (<u>Id</u>. at 977). Mrs. Gaines testified that her husband kept a gun under the edge of the sofa. (<u>Id</u>. at 982). Mrs. Gaines also testified that to the best of her recollection, nothing was taken from the inside of her home -- no money, no jewelry -nothing of any value. (<u>Id</u>. at 992).

Willie Gaines was admitted to the hospital with five gun shot wounds; he died one week later. (<u>Id</u>. at 990). Assistant Medical Examiner Bonifacio Floro testified that he [Floro] had recovered three . 380 bullets during the autopsy of Gaines. (<u>Id</u>. at 1047; <u>Id</u>. at 1054; <u>Id</u>. at 1057).

Dr. Floro testified that the gun shot wound number two to Gaines' right shoulder was a non-fatal wound, as was the gun shot

⁴In fact, after the first time Mrs. Gaines identified the codefendant Anthony Johnson as the shooter, the state attorney requested the judge order all black males in the courtroom to stand and remove their glasses. It was after the court had ordered this that Mrs. Gaines made the second identification of Anthony Johnson as the shooter,

wound to the upper arm. (<u>Id</u>. at 1059-60). Dr. Floro **also** testified that gun shot wound number three to the left anterior chest was also non-fatal providing that immediate treatment occurred. (<u>Id</u>. at 1061). Dr. Floro **also** indicated that gun shot wound number five to the right hand was also non-fatal. (<u>Id</u>. at 1063). Floro's opinion was that Willie Gaines had died from pneumonia resulting from gunshot wounds. (<u>Id</u>. at 1064). Floro also indicated that the seventy-six year old Mr. Gaines suffered from cirrhosis of the liver as well. (<u>Id</u>. at 1064).

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