IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 17 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CALVIN JEROME JOHNSON,

Appellant,

Case #: 88,986

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0471852

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3850

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Id., at 806.

As in *Coleman*, Johnson and his brother, Anthony, did not blame one another for these crimes, nor did either one confess. In fact, when Anthony testified, he inferred it was Shirae Hickson, not his

brother, who accompanied him to the Gaines house and shot Willie Gaines (32/1639-40, 1646-47, 1652, 1664). Anthony claimed he shot Calvin Gaines in self-defense, while Johnson stood mute and held the State to its burden of proof (32/1648-59, 1665). Id. "The evidence of the facts and circumstances leading to the murder explained" the murder, attempted murder, attempted armed robbery, burglary, and armed robbery (34/2073-75); "the convictions did not depend on the use of antagonistic evidence by one defendant against the other[]." Id. "The jury's lack of confusion is illustrated by its" recommendation of death for Johnson, and life for his brother. Id. As support for this conclusion, the trial court found, regarding one of Johnson's non-statutory mitigating factors, that he "was a relatively minor accomplice in the entire criminal incident:"

The Court finds that this factor has not been proved by the greater weight of the evidence. To the contrary, the evidence was overwhelming that Calvin Johnson was the only defendant in the vicinity of Willie Gaines when he was shot; and that only the Defendant shot Willie Gaines. The shooting was committed without any possible pretense of legal justification. (3/435)

Johnson's reliance on *Roundtree v.* State, 546 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1989), is misplaced because it involved interlocking confessions. This "*Bruton* circumstance" as it was spoken of in *McCray v. State*, supra, at 806, is absent in this cause. The trial court here correctly exercised its discretion in denying the motions for severance, and no undue prejudice was caused by its refusal to

sever the trials of the Johnson brothers. Coleman, at 1285.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY THAT ANTHONY JOHNSON HAD SECRETED A HANDCUFF KEY INTO A SHOE UNDER HIS BUNK AT THE JAIL WHERE SAID TESTIMONY WAS ONLY ADMITTED AS TO HIM, AND THE JURY WAS SO INSTRUCTED.

Officer Hawes testified that on January 31, 1995, while Anthony was an inmate at the Pretrial Detention Facility for first degree murder, he discovered a "[a] handcuff key" in Anthony's left shoe located under his bunk (32/1582-83). He further testified that handcuff keys were considered contraband because they "could help facilitate an escape." (32/1583-84) This testimony was the basis for a motion in limine by Anthony (23/196-207). Johnson argued that he had not been charged with escape; it had no relevancy to his trial; it was prejudicial to him and grounds for severance (23/207-208). Both Johnson and his brother renewed their motions prior to Officer Hawes' testimony (32/1577).

Johnson now argues at p.28 of his initial brief: "The trial court erred in permitting this testimony to be admitted against appellant because it was irrelevant under any theory of criminal liability and because it was extremely prejudicial to appellant."

First, and foremost, Officer Hawes testimony was not admitted against Johnson. Rather, at Johnson's request, the jury was instructed by the trial court at the conclusion of said testimony

as follows:

MR. ELER: Judge, I apologize. I was unclear whether Ms. Sopp had requested that instruction to the jury that this apply only to Anthony Johnson if you granted that request.

MR. HARDEE: We agree to giving it now.

THE COURT: I will give it. I think you are insulting their intelligence. It's obvious.

(Sidebar discussion concluded.)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, the evidence you just heard should be considered only in the case against Anthony Johnson and not in the case against Calvin Johnson. . . . (32/1591-92)

Johnson's second point on appeal is, therefore, a nonsequitur.

Given the fact that the matter of the handcuff key was admitted only as to Anthony, it is not necessary to address the merit of Johnson's claim here. However, for the sake of argument, with the clear understanding Johnson's second claim is a nonsequitur, the State will argue that this matter was relevant to Anthony as an inference of guilt. This Court recognized this principle in Mackiewicz v. State, 114 So.2d 684, 689 (Fla. 1959), cert. denied, 362 U.S. 965 (1960), when it said:

[S]ince it well settled that evidence that a suspected person in any manner endeavors to escape or evade a threatened prosecution, by flight, concealment, resistance to lawful arrest, or other ex post facto indications of a desire to evade prosecution, is admissible against the accused, the relevance of such evidence being based on the consciousness of guilt inferred from such actions.

See also, Harvey v. State, 529 So.2d 1083, 1086 (Fla. 1988). The

fact that Anthony had a handcuff key, which Officer Hawes testified could facilitate an escape, is relevant to consciousness of guilt and, therefore, admissible against him.

The cases cited by Johnson for his second claim are factually distinguishable from this cause. There was no instruction on flight in this cause as there was in Fenelon v. State, 594 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1992), which Johnson admits in a footnote found on p.29 of his brief. LeFevre v. State, 585 So.2d 457 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), also concerned the giving of a flight instruction, which the First District determined was not warranted:

This evidence suggests that Lefevre left the scene of the shooting because he was afraid for his own safety. The evidence does not support an inference that appellant's act was circumstantially probative of guilt. He did not elude law enforcement, as evidenced by his arrest only very shortly after the incident

In State v. St. Jean, 658 So.2d 1056 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), the Fifth District found:

Here, where the defendant fled just as the officer was opening the bag containing over two kilograms of cocaine (or, more to the point, containing minimum fifteen-year jail terms), it is hard to imagine any other motivation that would cause the owner (or the passenger for that matter) to abandon the vehicle along I-95 and take to the woods.

Id., at 1057.

Similarly, in this cause, where Anthony was housed in a pretrial

 $^{^{22}}$ Of note, this Court determined in *Fenelon* that the giving of the flight instruction was harmless error. *Id*.

detention facility on charges of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder ("or more to the point," potential penalties of death or life in prison), "it is hard to imagine any other motivation that would cause" him to have a handcuff key in his possession, other than to use it to facilitate an escape at the appropriate time. *Id*.

Even if the matter of the key was not admissible against Anthony, error, without conceding there was any, would have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). As previously discussed, there was no instruction on flight in this cause as there was in Fenelon v. State, supra. Rather, the jury was specifically instructed that Officer Hawes' testimony "should be considered only in the case against Anthony Johnson." There is a presumption that a jury will follow the instructions it is given. Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756, 767, 107 S.Ct. 3102, 97 L.Ed.2d 618, 631, n. 2e, 10b (1987). Clearly, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY IMPOSED THREE-YEAR MINIMUM MANDATORY SENTENCES FOR COUNTS II, III, AND V WHERE THE JURY FOUND JOHNSON USED A FIREARM FOR EACH COUNT.

Johnson begins his third claim at p.30 of his brief by alleging that the Indictment failed to specify "which sub-provision of Section 775.087 applied" as to Counts III and V, and there was "no reference to Section 775.087" for Count II. The State respectfully submits that Johnson's failure to file a pretrial motion to dismiss the indictment regarding any defects, real or imaginary, "constitutes a waiver of such defect[s] in this case."

See Mesa v. State, 632 So.2d 1094, 1098 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Johnson also complains at p.30 that "[t]he verdict forms did not provide for the 'sub-finding' required to impose the three-year minimum mandatory against appellant, and no such findings were made by the court." However, as previously delineated in the State's rendition of the Case at p.3, at no time did he ever object below on either ground as regards the three-year minimum mandatories (34/2017-19; 38/2365; 41/2449-50). Again, the State respectfully submits this claim is procedurally barred. Mesa v. State, supra, at 1096-98.

On the merits, the State would say that it is difficult to discern exactly what Johnson's argument on this claim is. It would appear to be that it is not sufficient for a jury to find that Johnson committed attempted murder, attempted robbery and robbery

with a firearm. Rather, Johnson seems to argue the jury must also make a "sub-finding" that Johnson "personally carried the firearm." That is, the verdict form must say Johnson "possessed" the firearm, rather than simply relating he committed the crimes with a firearm. If that is Johnson's argument, the State is not aware of a case requiring such a specific finding, Johnson did not provide one below, and does not provide one now.

The law on the matter of three-year minimum mandatories for possession of a firearm is as follows:

The district court held, and we agree, "that before a trial court may enhance a defendant's sentence or apply the mandatory minimum sentence for use of a firearm, the jury must make a finding that the defendant committed the crime while using a firearm either by finding him guilty of a crime which involves a firearm or by answering a specific question of a special verdict form so indicating." Overfelt v. State, 434 So.2d 945, 948 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

State v. Overfelt, 457 So.2d 1385, 1386 (Fla. 1984). "When an information charges that a defendant committed a crime while armed with a firearm, and the jury finds him guilty 'as charged,' such is a sufficient finding to require the imposition of the statutory mandatory minimum sentence. Wray v. State, 632 So.2d 682, 683 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); Accord, Riley v. State, 654 So.2d 621, 622 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). For the minimum mandatories to apply, the State must prove Johnson was in actual physical possession of a firearm. Hernandez v. State, 621 So.2d 1353, 1356 (Fla. 1993).

In this cause, the State proved, and the jury so found, that

Johnson was in actual physical possession of a firearm when he committed attempted murder, attempted robbery and robbery. Big Gaines testified that Anthony held a gun on him as he robbed him and then shot him (29/915-25). As he placed his hands on top of the car he was working on with his father, Willie Gaines, Big noticed a second guy, who had something stuck in his father's back, move his dad into their house (29/920). Big Gaines then heard 2 or 3 shots; his mother screamed and then she ran out of the house (29/921-22). He dropped his wallet and grabbed Anthony's gun (29/921-22).

Big never saw the second man's face, but he did see him lead his father out to the front porch and sit him down in a chair (29/923-24). He could see "blood spots" on his dad (29/927). The second man stood over Willie Gaines maybe four or five seconds, Anthony said, 'let's go," and the second guy shot his father in the jaw (29/924-26). Anthony took \$1400.00 and a cellular phone from Big (29/939-942).

Amanda Gaines testified that the man who invaded her home and shot her husband, had a "gun in his hand" (29/969-973). Detective Godbee testified he recovered 13 shell casings from both inside and outside the victims' house, and 3 projectiles, one of which came from a .45 (29/1006, 10017). Dr. Floro testified Willie Gaines died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds of the body, and that he recovered three bullets from the body as well (29/1048-58).

Chiffon Bryant testified when the Johnson brothers exited her car to confront Big Gaines, they had their handguns concealed:

"Anthony had his gun in his belt and he pulled his shirt over it and Calvin had his . . . under his shirt in the back of his pants."

(30/1092). Neither gun was small (30/1093). As the brothers made their escape in Chiffon's car, she testified: "Calvin said that the old man pulled a gun on him and he had the nerve to try and shoot him and he had to fire him up." (30/1100) She explained that "fire him up" meant Johnson said he had to "shoot him" (30/1100). Johnson also said he shot the victim "everywhere" (30/1101).

Linsey Walker testified he witnessed Anthony shoot Big Gaines while he "was laying on the ground." (30/1191-92). Linsey also witnessed Johnson run out of the Gaines' house (30/1192). Mr. Walker chased the brothers and at one point, "they turned around and both of them had guns." (30/1197) Shea Brookins testified he witnessed Johnson exit the Gaines' home after he heard the shooting (30/1208).

Ed Mason testified that after the shootings a transaction occurred between him and Johnson which "consisted of two guns, . . . a .380 and . . . a .45 automatic." (31/1380-81) Mason "had asked [Johnson] about a handgun and he told [him] that he had two handguns and that [he] could have one of them if [he] sold the other one." (31/1380) Mason did as instructed but failed to

provide Johnson with the proceeds because he was in jail, and Mason squandered the money to support his cocaine habit (31/1383-84).

Sometime after Johnson was arrested, he called Mason from jail, inquiring whether Mason still had the guns and telling him if he remained quiet "everything would be all right." (31/1386) On a separate occasion, Johnson admitted that he did the robbery on 21st and Phoenix that the newspaper had related, and that as "he was doing the robbery... the guy bucked him and he had to shoot him." (31/1386) While incarcerated with Johnson, after Mason had been arrested for dealing crack, Johnson repeated that if Mason kept his "mouth closed about those guns that he could beat his case." (31/1387) Woodrow Wilson witnessed the transaction between Johnson and Mason regarding the .45 and the .380 (31/1430-31).

Peter Lardizabal testified that three bullets and thirteen cartridge cases came from .380 and .45 caliber handguns (32/155-73). Detective Highsmith testified that Big Gaines identified Anthony as his shooter when he interviewed him in the hospital (32/1616).

Anthony admitted he owned a .45, and that he carried his firearm "everywhere" he went in the State of Florida 33/1675-76). He traded on the street for the .45 with a .357 Magnum because he "wanted something with more fire power." (33/1676-78) Anthony claimed he left the .45 in someone's car and it was never returned (33/1679-80).

of Counts II, III, and V, as they appeared on the Verdict forms, as follows:

VERDICT - COUNT II

WE, THE JURY, FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE, AS CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT.

VERDICT - COUNT III

WE, THE JURY, FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM, AS CHARGED IN THE INDICTMENT.

VERDICT - COUNT V

WE, THE JURY, FIND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY OF ROBBERY WITH A FIREARM, AS CHARGED IN THE IZVDICTMENT. (See p.3 this brief. II/257-58, 260)

Count II of the indictment charged Johnson with attempting to unlawfully kill Big Gaines "by shooting" him and that he carried or had in his possession a firearm, to wit: a pistol."²³ (I/25). Count III of the indictment charged that Johnson "did carry a firearm, to wit: a pistol" when he committed or attempted to commit a robbery upon Willie Gaines, and "had in his possession a firearm, to wit: a pistol," contrary to § 775.087 (I/25-26). Count V similarly charged Johnson in the robbery of Big Gaines (I/25-26).

The only real complaint Johnson may have would relate to Count II, regarding the scrivener's error, where § 75.087 was mistakenly

²³See pp.1-2 this brief.

identified as § 735.087.'" The State respectfully submits any such complaint is waived, and the scrivener's error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given the fact that the count charges "possession of a firearm." Mesa v. State, supra. The trial court correctly imposed the three-year minimum mandatories for Counts II, III, and V, because the jury found Johnson carried a firearm when he committed the crimes.

 $^{^{24}}$ The State previously alerted this Court to this typo in fn. 3 of this brief at p.2.

ISSUE IV

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